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The Paradise Garden at RHS Garden Bridgewater feels beautifully serene in the early evening sunlight.
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The beautiful central lily pond is fed by two rills with stepping plates so visitors can cross over the water safely.
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CHAPTER 1

Introduction
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The peaceful tranquillity of blue-flowering agapanthus in steel-grey pots backed by the sumptuous planting of the Paradise Garden is a draw for all visitors.
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Strong visual links between the Kitchen Garden and Community Grow Garden are afforded by the sympathetically restored low wall between the two.







RHS GARDEN BRIDGEWATER IN WORSLEY, CITY OF SALFORD, IS A garden rooted in history but with its focus firmly on the future. Rising from a once-majestic garden left to nature, RHS Garden Bridgewater has become a showpiece of horticultural excellence since the RHS took ownership of the site and development began in 2015.

With all its glorious walled gardens, exquisite planting and breathtaking vistas, Bridgewater is a garden for the twenty-first century. The plan from the outset was to create not only a truly inspirational destination for garden lovers from across the world, but also a garden that will benefit the local community that surrounds it.
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To date, more than 800 amazing volunteers have helped to create RHS Garden Bridgewater. How many more will contribute in the decades to come?





Its glory days started when Worsley New Hall was built in 1840 for £100,000 (equivalent to £10.4 million in 2022). When the gardens were first developed, the formal terraced gardens were designed by renowned landscape architect William Andrews Nesfield. The terracing, along with an ornamental boating lake, parkland and 4.45-hectare/11-acre Walled Garden with heated glasshouses for growing exotic produce, added to the grandeur of the estate. So grand and impressive were the New Hall and gardens that Queen Victoria visited in 1851 and returned in 1857, travelling there along the Bridgewater Canal.
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The Ellesmere Polka was composed by Heinrich Blumer to commemorate the visit of Queen Victoria to Worsley New Hall in 1851.
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Worsley New Hall was a large and impressive building with all mod cons for the time. It was a real statement of grandeur and wealth.
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Queen Victoria’s visit in 1851 was a truly memorable affair – legend has it that the Bridgewater Canal was dyed blue in her honour.







GARDEN SHAPER

William Andrews Nesfield (1793–1881)
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William Andrews Nesfield was instrumental in designing the magnificent gardens and landscape that once surrounded Worsley New Hall, yet he was involved in two other vocations before settling on landscape design. Born in 1793 in Chester-le-Street, County Durham, William was educated at Winchester College and later at the University of Cambridge. On retiring from the army William developed his love and skill for painting, citing influence by perhaps the best-loved English Romantic artist William Turner, and was a member of the Old Water Colour Society until 1851. But it was landscape design where William found his true vocation and acclaimed design and financial success.

He gained his first commission in 1836 and quickly became a dominant figure and much sought-after landscape designer. By the end of his landscape design career he had worked on over 260 estates. He had redesigned parts of Kew Gardens, many of the London parks including Regent’s Park, Holkham Hall in Norfolk, Castle Howard in North Yorkshire and, in 1841, Worsley New Hall.

William had a style and flair for creating rather grand and impressive gardens. He regarded landscape design as ‘the Art of painting with Nature’s materials’ and drew inspiration from pre-eighteenth-century English gardens and had a penchant for parterres, terracing, statues and fountains. Coloured gravels and topiarized shrubs featured in most of his designs, which he described as being ‘artistical’. All such features can be seen in the paintings and photographs of the original gardens surrounding Worsley New Hall as well as in other gardens blessed with the Nesfield touch.

William had first-hand experience of working with the RHS when the society commissioned him to design a garden in South Kensington. William’s style of precise planting, controlled displays and inflexible architectural layout soon fell out of favour and in 1881 he died at his home in London.

But the spirit of William Andrews Nesfield lives on at Bridgewater. The original terracing of Nesfield’s design can still be seen above Ellesmere Lake and is earmarked for future development. Meanwhile Tom Stuart-Smith, the landscape designer charged with the creation of RHS Garden Bridgewater, is considered by many as the most sought-after designer of current times and could therefore be considered Nesfield’s natural successor.
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The terraced gardens of Worsley New Hall were typical of William Andrews Nesfield’s designs. The remains of them can just be seen today above Ellesmere Lake.
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Worsley New Hall is a distant memory but there are still intriguing architectural remains to be found across the site such as steps, stone walls, the Grotto and the icehouse (here).





By the end of the First World War the Hall and estate had succumbed to the powers of nature. The house was empty, and the formal gardens overgrown. The estate’s demise was further exacerbated when the owner, the fourth Earl of Ellesmere, chose to auction the library and various items of furniture. The Second World War saw the requisition of the house and grounds by the War Office for training purposes. In 1943 a fire broke out on the top floor of the house, and further damage was caused by local mining activities, resulting in the Hall’s subsidence. Later that year the Hall was sold for scrap for £2,500 (equivalent to around £118,000 in 2022). Eight hundred tonnes of stone from the Hall were used to construct council houses near Heptonstall in West Yorkshire, and debris was utilized to fill in the basements of the Hall.

While the good-quality, reusable stone was repurposed, the remains of the building were reduced to rubble. As nature reclaimed the site, scout troops tamed areas for meetings, fishing groups enjoyed the lake, and a garden centre was operated from Garden Cottage and the Walled Garden. But by 2013 the garden centre was closed, and two years later the RHS had an inkling of an idea.

In 2015 the RHS began work on the ambitious plan to create a world-class garden for the north-west of England. Employing the world-renowned landscape architect Tom Stuart-Smith, a masterplan was drawn up for the area, sensitively working with history and reimagining the landscape. Hundreds of contractors, heritage builders, specialists and volunteers all helped to create what is Bridgewater today and are part of its future.
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Tim Upson, RHS Director of Horticulture (left), was closely involved in facilitating the master plan and design created by Tom Stuart-Smith (right).
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Initial masterplan drawings for RHS Garden Bridgewater clearly illustrate the main features of the Weston Walled Garden and a powerful vision for the future. Detailed designs were developed later to help create the garden visitors enjoy today.










CHAPTER 2

Rise and Fall of the New Hall
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The first phase of redeveloping the landscape inheritance of the former Worsley New Hall estate has focused primarily on the Walled Garden and its immediate surroundings.
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The first Francis Egerton was a pioneer of the canal transportation system and a quietly spoken, highly respected Member of Parliament.







THE INDUSTRIAL REVOLUTION SHAPED THE AREA around RHS Garden Bridgewater, and the canal running along the perimeter of the garden was pivotal in fuelling the powerhouse that Manchester was to become.

At its simplest, for Manchester to grow it needed coal – and lots of it. In the mid-eighteenth century, the only options for transporting coal in the north-west region of Lancashire were via the Mersey and Irwell Navigation or by packhorse. Neither option was particularly efficient or cost-effective. There was only so much coal a packhorse could successfully transport, and while the navigation allowed passage to small vessels this was possible only during a drought, at low tide and with easterly winds strong enough to support the passage of a fully loaded ship.

There had to be an answer to this transportation challenge. Enter the third Duke of Bridgewater, Sir Francis Egerton (1736–1803) of Worsley Old Hall. Having travelled throughout Europe during his youth, the third Duke had been impressed by the continental canal systems such as the Canal du Midi in southern France, running between Toulouse and the port town of Sète.

Following the construction of the nearby Sankey Canal in 1757, a river navigation that followed the course of the river Mersey along the Sankey Brook, the Duke and his land agent and engineer, John Gilbert, drew up plans for an underground canal at Worsley, which would link to a surface canal between Worsley and Salford. This would not only provide a solution to the transportation issues, but also improve drainage, thus alleviating the regular flooding in the mines caused primarily by the layer of porous sandstone that sat above the coal seam. It would also create a permanent source of water for the surface canal and, perhaps most importantly, mean that it was no longer necessary to bring the coal to the surface, which had always been a tricky and costly undertaking. Only one horse would be needed to pull a canal boat, which could carry the equivalent of 30 tonnes, more than ten times the maximum amount that a horse and cart could achieve. John Gilbert was involved in the preliminary levelling and surveying of the site.
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Worsley Old Hall in Salford was later home to Sir Francis Egerton’s engineer, James Brindley. It is now a a pub and restaurant.





The Duke was just twenty-three years old when he presented his first Bill to Parliament, which was hugely supported by the traders of Manchester and Salford on the Duke’s promise to reduce the delivered price of coal in Manchester to no more that 4 old pence per hundredweight/50 kg (equivalent to around £50 per tonne in 2022). The Bill received Royal Assent in 1759 and the tunnelling began. However, one of the two cuts soon ran into peat deposits and waterlogging, and that forced a rethink.

Worsley Old Hall soon became the location of many meetings between mine experts and landowners. The brother-in-law of the Duke was also involved in digging new canals, and his mining expert, James Brindley, helped in the creation of a new plan. To avoid waterlogged peaty soil, the proposal was to reroute the canal to cross the river Irwell via a stone aqueduct. This would join Trafford Park to Stretford and Manchester. Many people ridiculed the plan, as a stone aqueduct was in its time a revolutionary idea, but a new Bill was passed.

Arguably the Bridgewater Canal was the first truly man-made canal when it opened on 17 July 1761, as it was the first canal in Britain that did not follow the path of an existing river or tributary. More notably, perhaps, the canal’s impact on the price of coal sparked a raft of imitators in a period of frenetic canal building between the 1790s and 1810s; this would become known as ‘canal mania’.

Within six months of the new canal being opened it had been extended to Stretford, and after a further four years of development it had reached into the heart of Manchester at Castlefield Wharf. While this section of the canal worked towards Manchester, the Duke and his team were also busy building the canal towards Runcorn and Liverpool.
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The development of a canal system enabled transportation of coal using horse-drawn canal boats. This increased the amount of coal the rapidly developing cities of the North-West could use.





In 1776 the canal between Liverpool and Manchester was completed. At the height of its popularity the canal was transporting more than 3 million tonnes of cargo per year between the rapidly expanding towns and cities of the Industrial Revolution. The cost of providing warehousing along the route, along with the maintenance and development of the canal had however put the Duke’s finances under immense strain, resulting in many loans being taken out. The debts soon mounted to an equivalent value today of around £2 million. Cutbacks were necessary, and the Duke reduced the number of servants in his estate and closed Bridgewater House in London. But the canal was thriving, and acquisition of land in Liverpool enabled the Duke to develop a dock to serve the ever-growing needs of the area. When the Duke was sixty years old he successfully secured his fifth Canal Act to extend the Bridgewater Canal from Worsley to Leigh. This would create a superhighway between Lancashire and Cheshire and then beyond to the national system of waterways.
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This historical painting of the front elevation of Worsley New Hall was depicted from a position above the Chinese Streamside Garden looking over Ellesmere Lake.





It was only in his latter days that the Duke saw the fruits of his labour, and on his death in 1803 he left Worsley estate and canal to a trust of three peers for ‘as long as the lives of all the Peers of the House of Lords and of their sons who were living at the time of the Duke’s death and for a further twenty-one years as allowed by law’.

In 1837 one of the beneficiaries, Lord Francis Leveson-Gower, took up residence at Worsley Old Hall and, in accordance with the will, changed his name to Lord Francis Egerton. Nine years later he received the title of Earl of Ellesmere and took up parliamentary battles to help preserve the importance of canals in the face of a fast-developing railway system, seen as a threat to the canal system income stream.

The first Earl of Ellesmere then began construction of the immense Worsley New Hall, and after its completion in 1845 it became an imposing statement of both the wealth and importance of its owner. Because of the new competing threat of the rapidly expanding railway network, trustees of the canal sold their shares to Bridgewater Navigation Company in 1872. This created shareholders with interests in both the canals and railway. Thirteen years later the Bridgewater Navigation Company sold the canal to the Manchester Ship Canal Company and then, in 1923, Bridgewater Estates Ltd was formed and acquired the estate owned by the Ellesmere family.
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Worsley New Hall was certainly a magnificent sight with its formal terraced gardens, a large fountain and grounds leading down to what is today called Ellesmere Lake. Foundations for the fountain can still be seen in situ today.
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This magnificent pair of listed gates used to welcome visitors to Worsley New Hall on its eastern approach. They were moved to their current location when the motorway was constructed in the 1960s.







Bridgewater in wartime

At the outbreak of the First World War, the fourth Earl of Ellesmere and his wife lent Worsley New Hall to the British Red Cross. New Hall became a hospital for wounded officers and could accommodate up to 132 patients. Such was the brutality of the war that almost one thousand patients were treated there in the first year alone. The large lofty rooms of New Hall were quickly converted into wards, sitting rooms and dining rooms, and the gardens and boating lake were used for recreation. The glasshouses and kitchen gardens provided patients with fruit and vegetables, and at Christmas the hospital was decorated with evergreens and a fir tree.

After the end of the First World War and the closure of the hospital in 1919, the Egerton family elected to stay in London. As the family was hit by heavy death duties, the Egertons subsequently struggled with the financial upkeep of New Hall and gardens. In 1920 the fourth Earl began to break up New Hall, selling items of furniture and fittings at auction. Then in 1923 the Worsley Estate was sold to Bridgewater Estates Ltd for £3.3 million (approximately £205 million today). Efforts made by the company to sell New Hall in the 1920s and 1930s were without success.
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Nursing staff were employed to tend the injured servicemen sent to Worsley New Hall during and after the First World War.
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Wounded officers used the grounds as a recreational area.







[image: image]


Worsley New Hall became a hospital for many officers from the British Army in the First World War. Its essential status was chronicled in the first edition of the local publication The Worsley Wail.
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Industrious scouts salvaged stone material from Nesfield’s ornate fountain basins and repurposed them to create a woodland chapel in the post-war years. The RHS has saved these artefacts and hopes one day to return them to the terraces.





Throughout the Second World War New Hall was requisitioned by the War Office for military use. Initially it was occupied by the 2nd/8th Battalion of the Lancashire Fusiliers and used as a training ground. Around a hundred troops were accommodated on the site, and training trenches were dug in the grounds while the basements of New Hall were used as air-raid shelters. The Lancashire Fusiliers stayed until 1942 and were followed by Lancaster Home Guard battalions, members of which trained both inside and outside New Hall. In 1944 it was used as a temporary home for Dunkirk evacuees, and then for a platoon of American soldiers in preparation for D-Day.



Gardens reclaimed

By the middle of the twentieth century the whole estate had become overgrown and been reclaimed by nature. The entrance gates on Leigh Road were damaged, windows to New Hall were smashed and there were reports that interior fittings had been used for firewood. Although the War Office was fined to cover the cost of the repairs, in September 1943 the top floor of the building was badly damaged by fire. In a poor state of repair because of the fire, along with dry rot and subsidence, Worsley New Hall was demolished between 1946 and 1949.

In the footsteps of previous occupants came the Scouting movement, which arrived on site on 9 November 1943, after their existing camp – Alder Forest in Winton – was turned over to farmland to grow food for the war effort. First based in the gatehouse to aid the security of the site, a 800-space, 9-hectare/22-acre camp was built at the end of 1946, and over the subsequent years thousands of young people benefited by the great natural provision afforded by the estate. The scout troop became a fixture until 2016, caring for and making use of an area that became known as Middlewood Scout Camp. Large numbers of scouts and guides from all over the region made regular trips to it, exploring the woodland and learning life skills. The flag was lowered for the last time at Middlewood Scout Camp in a closing ceremony on Sunday 18 December 2016. The scout troop was not disbanded but merely moved across the Bridgewater Canal to a new, 12-hectare/30-acre site in Hollinwood.
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Slow and natural processes were reclaiming much of the Walled Garden and its surroundings. Before restoration of the walls and construction of the pathways began, most of this undergrowth had to be removed.







BRIDGEWATER MEMORIES
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Middle Wood provided a wonderful outdoor playground for many local residents as they were growing up.



GEOFFREY HAMPSON

Geoffrey was born and brought up a few kilometres from Worsley New Hall in Boothstown, Salford. In the 1940s Geoffrey and his friends had to create their own entertainment, and one such game was pretending to be commandos. Marching, singing and then stealthily approaching Middle Wood, they entered the woods through a driveway to the site of New Hall. There they played in the woodlands, among the big trees, roamed towards the lake and found an old landing craft left by soldiers who had used the lake as a training area. Another popular game Geoffrey and his fellow ‘commandos’ played was to sneak up on the scouts in their tents and pull the pegs out and run across the fields to relative safety. Geoffrey never got caught and remembers Middle Wood as being a large and delightful part of his youth.

PAUL BRIGHOUSE

Paul was born 3km/2 miles away from Bridgewater, in Pendlebury, Salford. He joined the local cubs and scouts as a young boy in 1975, and his time spent with them in Worsley Woods are now cherished memories. Paul recalls that swimming and canoeing on the lake were popular activities when he and his fellow cubs went on trips to Middlewood Scout Camp, and he clearly remembers the grotto, or stone folly, sitting on an island in the lake. The young cubs described it as a ‘funky shaped building with lots of entrances with shapes of the moon and stars cut into the stone of the roof’.
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Intentionally positioned holes in the brick roof of the Grotto suggest that it could have been used as a shooting lodge – or perhaps a star-gazing hideaway.





In 1951 the War Office once again requisitioned a portion of the New Hall site. Where the servants’ wing of New Hall once stood, the War Office erected a reinforced concrete bunker and two radar masts for anti-aircraft operations. All this was a reaction to the growing potential of a nuclear strike by the USSR. The two-storey, square structure at Bridgewater was a main operations room, surrounded by eight reinforced concrete rooms and a viewing gallery, and it had its own electricity supply and ample space for food stores. However, as nuclear technology advanced during the Cold War, defence policies changed. It soon became clear that a nuclear attack would come not from bombs being dropped by planes but rather by inter-continental ballistic missiles.



BRIDGEWATER MEMORIES

FAYE HOWELLS

Faye was born a few kilometres from Worsley New Hall in Salford, and she can recall being near the bunker in the woods, in the grounds of what is now RHS Garden Bridgewater. Almost two decades ago, she and a few of her friends followed the sound of thumping bass music through gaps in the fence and wall surrounding the site of Worsley New Hall. New Hall itself had long since disappeared but the former nuclear bunker was still standing, as it is today, and was the epicentre of the music. On entering the bunker, Faye saw hundreds of revellers as well as graffiti artists who were decorating the walls. A balcony allowed viewing down into the main room of the bunker. The music echoed throughout the woods, making it a magical, almost surreal experience.
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Graffiti artists adorned the walls of the nuclear bunker during raves held on the site.






In 1956 the War Office purchased the site of the bunker, and from 1958 it was used by the Royal Navy as a food store. In 1961 the bunker was sold to Salford Corporation and became a joint area control centre with Lancashire County Council. After the disbanding of the Civil Defence Corps in 1968 the building was handed over to the Greater Manchester Fire Service, and in 1985 it was leased to a local gun club, which used the site as a shooting range.

Peel Investments acquired the bunker and entire site in 1984. Although it is no longer in use, yet open to visitors, several raves were held in the bunker, attracting thousands of people. Because extensive vandalism was occurring, both entrances were eventually blocked up, and the bunker has remained closed ever since.

Visitors to RHS Garden Bridgewater cannot currently access the area around the bunker, but standing near the Chinese Streamside Garden, at the edge of Ellesmere Lake, looking up at the barely visible terraces of the old gardens and previous site of New Hall, visitors can imagine the activity of the area in the war years.

The Bridgewater Canal forms part of the southeastern perimeter of the garden, and is now owned by The Bridgewater Canal Company Ltd, part of The Peel Group, in conjunction with the Bridgewater Canal Trust. While visitors park their cars, enjoy a cup of coffee and a browse of the exquisite gardens, the adjacent canal carries flotillas of pleasure craft and a wealth of history.
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Fallen trees and excessive vegetation choked up much of the woodland and lake. Much of this timber required removing and has been recycled as chippings to surface woodland paths, the creation of benches and as fuel for an on-site biomass boiler.










CHAPTER 3

A New Beginning
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Stylized bridges across the stream in the Chinese Streamside Garden now enable thousands of visitors to enjoy this newly created section of RHS Garden Bridgewater.
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This overgrown section of what is now the Paradise Garden was, at one time, part of Worsley Hall Garden Centre.







[image: image]


After the site’s initial clearance of vegetation, the ground was levelled and construction works could commence in the Weston Walled Garden.







THE RHS HAD HAD AMBITIONS FOR A FIFTH garden for many years, since it had acquired RHS Garden Harlow Carr in North Yorkshire back in 2001. A lot of people had thought and talked about potential sites, and there had been previous searches. But it was Sue Biggs, then Director General of the RHS, and Jim Gardiner, then Executive Vice President of Horticulture, who finally realized the ambition. A fifth garden was one of the priorities of the RHS ten-year investment programme of 2013–23. The hunt started in earnest.

Since gardens were already situated in Essex (RHS Garden Hyde Hall), Devon (RHS Garden Rosemoor), Surrey (RHS Garden Wisley) and North Yorkshire (RHS Garden Harlow Carr), the search concentrated on the western side of England, from the Midlands up to the North. Many sites were checked, with the spotlight eventually falling on Worsley New Hall in Salford. The location had everything – a rich history, a mix of soil types to enable many different plants to be grown, a milder and wetter climate in comparison with the other RHS Gardens and superb transport connections already serving the large and diverse conurbations on its doorstep. The double walled garden and historic landscape provided inspiration and a canvas for development. Moreover there were abundant opportunities to include the local community in the plans, as well as the generous backing of Salford City Council and The Peel Group.

The period between 2015 and 2017 was one of the busiest and most important in the garden’s redevelopment. The teams set about creating a masterplan for what would become RHS Garden Bridgewater. Alongside countless meetings to comply with planning requirements, ideas to include the local community, vital fund-raising thoughts as well as setting about the design for the garden, the small team continued to learn more about the opportunities and challenges of the site. As they crawled on hands and knees, often bloodied and bruised, through the thickets of rhododendrons, yet more discoveries were revealed. The true eastern edge of the lake was found to be not as previously anticipated; due to siltation, it was now many metres away from the current water edge. History was coming alive in front of their eyes.

Full planning permission was granted in June 2017 and so work in earnest began on the largest gardening project in Europe at that time. A survey first done of the plants present in the woodland in 2016 showed the area was relatively species-poor. The overhead canopy was dominated by self-sown sycamore (Acer pseudoplatanus), and the shrubby lower level was a thicket of Rhododendron ponticum. The dense shade areas within the woodland prevented many other plant species from growing. Only ferns, in particular the broad buckler fern (Dryopteris dilatata), and mosses were surviving. Any trees, shrubs and conifers planted by the preceding head gardeners had long since disappeared. No longer were there magnificent gardens, but some specimens remained such Pinus strobus, Quercus hybrids, veteran beeches (Fagus), the original lime (Tilia) avenue leading the site of the house and yews (Taxus).

The large areas of grassland in agricultural tenancy were also low in species, with buttercups (Ranunculus acris), spear thistles (Cirsium vulgare) and Italian or Westerwold’s ryegrass (Lolium multiflorum) dominating. In wetter areas nearer the Bridgewater Canal the inevitable Himalayan balsam (Impatiens glandulifera) flourished alongside self-sown grey willow (Salix cinerea subsp. oleifolia) trees and saplings.

For years Ellesmere Lake was covered by fringed water lilies (Nymphoides peltata), which are vigorous plants and are classed as invasive by many gardeners.
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